1968

Valley Shopping Center No. 3, a Corporation,
American Home Assurance Company, a
Corporation and Safeco Insurance Company, a
Corporation v. Sumner J. Hatch and Robert M.
Mcrae : Brief of Appellants

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE NATURE OF THE CASE

The appellants, practicing attorneys engaging in the private practice of law in Salt Lake City, Utah, appeal from a judgment entered on jury verdict in favor of the plaintiffs in the amount of \$2,165.40 for monies allegedly received by the appellants as attorneys fees for repre-

senting certain clients, the respondents contending that the monies were taken during a robbery of a grocery store in Salt Lake City, Utah.

DISPOSITION OF THE CASE BELOW

The plaintiffs originally filed the instant action as Valley Shopping Centers (R. 1) against the appellants, and Wayne Johnson, James Floyd Workman and George Stockton. Subsequently, in various motions, proper parties were determined to be American Home Assurance Company, Safeco Insurance Company for the amount of funds paid over to Valley Shopping Center No. 3 and an employee under theft insurance policies and Valley Shopping Center No. 3 for its loss not covered by the insurance. Trial was held in the District Court, Salt Lake County, State of Utah, and upon jury verdict on special interrogatories judgment was entered against the appellants. The original defendants, Johnson, Workman and Stockton, were dismissed from the lawsuit prior to trial. (R. 29). A motion for Judgment notwithstanding the verdict and for a new trial was duly filed. The order denying the motion was entered on the 30th day of January, 1968, the notice of appeal was duly filed on the 23rd day of February, 1968.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Appellants seek reversal of the judgment of the trial court and dismissal of the action or in the alternative request that a new trial be granted.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The instant action was commenced on July 28, 1965, in the District Court of the Third Judicial District. Plaintiff at that time was designated as Valley Shopping Center (R. page 1). Joined in the complaint were Wayne Johnson, James Floyd Workman, George Stockton, Sumner J. Hatch and Robert M. McRae. The first cause of action alleged that Johnson, Workman, and Stockton took monies of the Valley Shopping Center of approximately \$2,500.00. The second cause of action alleged that the defendants, Hatch and McRae, attorneys engaged in the practice of law in Salt Lake County "without a valuable consideration" obtained possession of the funds (R. 2). Subsequently, Stan Hale dba Boy's Market was substituted as a plaintiff in that action (R. 6). Various motions were filed as well as an answer. An answer was also filed by George Stockton (R. 14). Subsequently discovery was undertaken, and on the 26th day of August, 1966, Valley Shopping Center no. 3 was joined as an additional party plaintiff, the plaintiffs' second cause of action against Hatch and McRae was severed for trial purposes, and the first cause of action dismissed without prejudice (R. 29). Subsequent to pretrial an order was entered requiring that American Home Assurance Company be designated a plaintiff along with Safeco Insurance Company and that Stan Hale dba Boy's Market be dismissed as a party plaintiff (R. 35, 36).

At the trial counsel for the plaintiffs, respondents

herein, in his opening statement to the jury stated that Mr. Workman and Mr. Stockton gave a written confession to the robbery of the Valley Shopping Center No. 3 (R. page 94). The trial court refused to allow testimony as to any statements made by Stockton and Johnson to be received in evidence against appellants, Hatch and McRae, on the grounds that they were hearsay in the absence of any evidence that appellants had knowledge of the confessions (R. 137). However, based on the opening statement of the counsel for respondents, one of the jurors clearly was of the opinion that Workman and Stockton had confessed to the robbery. (R. 153, 154).

Miss Margaret Leaver testified that on December 19, 1964, she was an employee of Valley Shopping Center No. 3 located at 702 East 1st South, Salt Lake City, Utah. She testified that at approximately 9:00 P.M. on that date, two men entered the store wearing Halloween masks and robbed the store taking the money out three cash registers. She could not identify the individuals who robbed the store except that at a lineup held subsequent to the robbery she did indicate that one of the individuals in the lineup had a simildad build and voice (R. pages 104, 112, 113.). She did not see a third individual. (R. page 108). Money also was taken from the safe in the store and included were certain Kennedy half dollars and silver dollars (R. 106). Miss Leaver could not testify with any precision as to the amount of money taken. \$50.00 was also taken from Miss Leaver's purse during the robbery.

Mr. Stan Hale testified that he had been one of the owners of Valley Shopping Center No. 3 and that they were paid the sum of \$2,231.37 by American Home Assurance Company and that their theft policy was a \$200.00 deductible policy. He stated that Valley Shopping Center No. 3 was no longer in existence and had gone through dissolution. (R. 116). He stated that he did not know if suit had been authorized and that it would not make any difference to him (R. 117). He was not aware if Valley Shopping Center was making any claim against the appellants (R. 118). Subsequently, however, on recall after the trial had progressed a substantial distance, he testified (R. 299) that Valley Shopping Center No. 3 had a "position" that they were entitled to the \$200.00 deductible on their insurance policy. On cross examination, he admitted that there was no Valley Shopping Center No. 3 and that he was not an officer of that corporation. (R. 299, 300). Mr. Lloyd Gonzales, employee of the shopping center, testified that he computed the loss at approximately \$2,500.00 (R. 179) but that his computation was based on his recollection of cash register slips and that he had no independent knowledge of what the receipts totaled (R. 180).

Dave Nicholson testified that at the time of the robbery he was a detective with the Salt Lake City Police Department (R. 119). He was dispatched to the store upon hearing of the robbery but uniformed officers arrived in the first instance (R. 121). During the course of the investigation, someone indicated that the name

"Wayne" had been used during the robbery. (R. 122). He stated that as a result of this information he went to 123 M Street in the company of Sgt. Don Lyman of the Salt Lake City Police Department. There, they observed two vehicles, one of which appeared similar to one observed at the scene of the crime. (R. 134). They then knocked on the door of the premises and the wife of George Stockton admitted them to the living room where George Stockton and Wayne Johnson were present. (R. 127). They immediately arrested Johnson and Stockton and commenced a search of the premises. Nicholson testified that he found a box with "Valley No. 7" on it. One hundred twenty four dollars was found in the bottom of a clothes hamper in the bedroom. Ten Dollars in miscellaneous change was also found in a doll. (R. 130). On a shelf in a closet, in a ladies wallet, three hundred twenty dollars in twenty dollar bills was found. Mrs. Stockton protested that this was her money, that she had been saving for an operation. (R. 147). Seven hundred ninety dollars in cash and coins was found in a suitcase on a back porch including some silver dollars and Kennedy half dollars. (R. 134). Three hundred twenty dollars was taken from the person of Wayne Johnson. Mr. Johnson contended that this was money that he had received from gambling in Las Vegas and so testified. (R. 184, 188, 189). Officer Nicholson's police report showed that \$1,914.40 was placed in the police evidence room. This included \$550.00 obtained from Mr. Stockton's daughter, Mrs. Kelsey, on the evening of the 20th day of December, 1964. It should be remembered that Valley Shopping Center No. 3 was the store robbed.

No money was found on Mr. Workman.

The respondents called Wayne Johnson as their witness against the appellants. Mr. Johnson was called over objection because counsel for respondents previously advised that he would refuse to answer question on the grounds that the answers might tend to incriminate him. Even so, the court permitted the witness to take the stand in prison clothes where it was brought out that he was in prison serving a sentence for several crimes. (R. 184). He did state that he advised Mr. Hatch and the police that he had obtained the money taken by the police while gambling in Nevada. (R. 184, 188). He indicated that he did not discuss the source of funds with Mr. McRae, and that Mr. Hatch represented him in the defense on the Valley Shopping Center No. 3 charge and other offenses. (R. 184, 195). Mr. Johnson refused to answer several of the questions on the grounds that the answers would tend to incriminate him. (R. 184, 186). Subsequent to his testimony, part of which occurred when in order to save time appellants called him as their own witness, Judge Jeppson, in the presence of the jury and in summary fashion, found Mr. Johnson in contempt and sentenced him. The same circumstances generally occurred as to Mr. Stockton although he was not found in contempt by Judge Jeppson. (R. 199). Mr. Stockton indicated that he traded at the Valley Shopping store on several occasions and that he engaged Mr. McRae to defend him on the robbery charge. He invoked the Fifth Amendment several times on his

behalf (R. 211-215). He indicated that he never told Mr. McRae anything except that the money taken from his house was his (R. 214), contended that the money taken from his daughter was his and that he had done some painting and other things to obtain the money (R. 213). An Exhibit (defendant's Exhibit 2) was received by the court which was a letter from Mr. Wayne Johnson to Mr. Hatch stating that the police had approximately \$1,000.00 cash which belonged to him and that he wished to retain Mr. Hatch as his attorney.

James Workman indicated that he had no association with either Mr. Hatch or Mr. McRae. He also invoked his Fifth Amendment right against self-incrimination (R. 208). It was stipulated that the appellants received the sum of \$2163.63 cash in assignments from Stockton and Johnson which money was obtained by court order and released from police custody (R. 237).

Appellant, Robert McRae, testified that he had not known either Stockton or Johnson before December 19, 1964, that he received a call from Mr. Stockton either the 21st or 22nd of December, 1964, and saw Stockton in the jail for approximately ten minutes where the question of fee was discussed but no inquiry was made of the facts (R. 229, 230, 232). He knew that Stockton was being held on a probation violation warrant (R. 232). McRae did not examine any written police department statements nor did he discuss the matter with any potential witnesses. (R. 240, 241). He was of the opinion that the money was

that of the suspect and didn't know whether the funds were impounded for evidence or for safekeeping (R. 241-243). Messrs. Hatch and McRae duly filed motions in the City Court of Salt Lake City to have the funds released to them pursuant to assignment from Stockton and Johnson. They did not talk to the investigating officers prior to the motions. At the time of the hearing on the motions to release the funds, Mr. Warren Weggeland represented the State of Utah. (R. 278). No witness testified at the hearings (R. 282). Judge Beck ordered the money released to the appellants. (R. 250). Mr. McRae had a conversation with Mr. Stockton, his wife and daughter, in his office at which time Mrs. Stockton advised Mr. McRae that the funds taken from her purse had been accumulated for an operation, and Mr. Stockton's daughter advised him that she had some of her father's money in her purse and that Mr. McRae was "welcome to it." (R. 255). He stated that there was no indication that the money was anyone's other than Stockton's nor had he any knowledge as to where the money was found that the police took into evidence until the time of the lawsuit.

Mr. Sumner J. Hatch testified that he received a letter from Mr. Wayne Johnson at which time he contacted Johnson at the jail. Johnson advised him that the police had approximately \$1,000.00 of his money which he had obtained gambling in Nevada. (R. 288). Hatch did not check with the police department to determine what evidence they had, and he had no reason to suspect the money was loot from any robbery. (R. 289). Mr. Hatch

appeared on one of the four hearings before Judge Beck, and Mr. McRae appeared on the other three. (R. 290). Hatch never had any discussion with the police concerning the case. (R. 292). Mr. Hatch also indicated he had no knowledge as to where the money had been found by the police. (R. 294).

No one from Valley Shopping Center or the insurance company respondents made any claim as to the money until long after it had been transferred to the appellants. (R. 296).

Officer Nicholson indicated that the police report he had showed that \$1,910.46 was received by the police department and \$2,128.40 recovered. (R. 320).

The trial court over objection allowed Mr. C. W. Reese, an independent insurance adjustor, to testify that his firm investigated the loss and made a report. He indicated that he did not personally investigate the loss nor did he have any personal knowledge concerning it. No foundation whatsoever was laid for his opinion as to the amount of the loss. (R. 301). He indicated that his firm recommended payment of \$2,231.57 and computed the loss at \$2,431.57. It was stipulated that Safeco Insurance Company paid Miss Leaver fifty dollars in compensation for the funds taken from her purse. Based upon the above evidence, the jury on special interrogatories returned a verdict against the appellants (R. 78, 79) finding that \$2,065.40 paid over to the appellants

was stolen from Valley Shopping Center No. 3 and that it was paid over to the appellants with notice or knowledge that it had been stolen. Exceptions were duly taken to all claimed errors at the time of trial.

POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN INSTRUCTING THE JURY ON THE APPLICABLE STANDARD OF LAW AND IN THE FORM OF THE SPECIAL INTERROGATORIES SUBMITTED TO THE JURY.

A. The trial court in Instruction 9-A and 9-B advised the jury that the lawsuit involved a claim on behalf of the respondents, that appellants received the monies in question "with notice *or* knowledge that the funds were stolen." The last sentence of Instruction 9-A indicated that the defendants contended they obtained the money in good faith and for a valuable consideration. (R. 65). Trial court determined that the issue of consideration was not before the jury since the funds had been paid over in consideration for appellants acting as defense counsel for Johnson and Stockton. Instruction 9-B took an *objective* approach to the question of notice and completely dissipated the appellants' claim of good faith by not advising the jury that it was the state of mind of the appellants that was important and further by stressing completely the question of notice and indicating that if there was information by which a reasonably prudent man would have notice this alone would over-

come the good faith of the appellants even though they did not subjectively have notice sufficient to overcome their good faith. The appellants contend that the effect of the Instructions, which were duly expected to (R. 324) was to apply a standard requiring the appellants to make inquiry and not to test the state of the information that the appellants actually had at any time before they received the funds. Further, the instructions when coupled with the form of the interrogatories submitted to the jury for their verdict stressed again that knowledge to the defendants was not required if they had the "notice" set forth in instruction 9-B even though they acted in good faith. (R. 54, 55).

Although money is a negotiable commodity, the law respecting the transfer from person to person is different than that relating to negotiable instruments because of the special nature of money and the requirement in our commercial society that money by a free token of exchange and that a person not be put on his peril in accepting the coin of the realm. Title 31 U.S.C. §§ 392, 352, 353, evidences the clear legislative intent of Congress to have federal reserve notes, silver certificates, and other recognized monies be freely accepted as good and legal tender for the satisfaction of obligations and the acquisition of goods. Generally, money is bearer *property* and must be subject to free exchange. In Mann, *The Legal Aspect of Money*, page 8, it is stated:

“As regards money as a chattel the general rule,

‘nemo potest dare quod non habet’, was apparently never applied to coins, which always passed by delivery and which could not be specifically recovered from a person who honestly and for valuable consideration had obtained possession. The reason for this is not that the loser cannot know his money again, or in other words, that money has no earmark; ‘for if his guineas or shillings had some private marks on them by which he could prove they had been his, he could not get them back from a bona fide holders. The true reason of this rule is that by the use of money the interchange of all other properties is most readily accomplished.”

Thus, before an individual is held accountable to another for receiving stolen funds it must appear that the money is clearly identifiable as the funds of another and that the recipient by the nature of his conduct has not received the funds in good faith. The same work on page 9 notes:

“Thus both coin and bank notes came to be united under the heading of ‘negotiable chattels’, i.e. if they ‘were received in good faith and for valuable consideration, the transferee got property though the transferor had none.”

In *Sinclair v. Brougham*, [1914] A.C. 398, 418, the House of Lords observed that there was no obligation on the part of the recipient of funds to inquire as to title and therefore the test was not that of our prudent “reasonable man” but that of subjective good faith. The court observed:

“*** in most cases money cannot be followed. When sovereigns or bank notes are paid over as currency, so far as the payer is concerned, they cease ipso facto to be the subject of specific title as chattels. If a sovereign or bank note be offered in payment, it is, under ordinary circumstances, no part of the duty of the person receiving it to inquire into title. The reason of this is that chattels of such kind form part of what the law recognizes as currency and treats as passing from hand to hand in point, not merely of possession, but of property.”

The term “mala fide” has been used to apply to instances where the recipient of funds has been allowed to trace the monies, Mann *Supra* page 10, and in *Clarke v. Shce*, 1 COWP. 197 (1774) the common law appeared to confirm prior decisions that there was a presumption of good faith. The law in the United States is not without confusion, but can generally be characterized as stated in 36 Am. Jur., *Money* § 6, where it is noted:

“While there has apparently been considerable confusion in the past as to the rule applicable to the rights of a person receiving stolen money, and while this confusion still exists to a certain extent, it arises more from the use of different terms in stating the doctrine than in its practical application. It may be safely said that the general proposition supported by the great weight of authority is that only bad faith on the part of a third person receiving stolen money, or the failure on his part to pay a valuable consideration therefor, will defeat his title thereto as against the true owner. This general doctrine has been variously stated.

Thus, it has been said that a taker in good faith of stolen money has good title thereto, and that even gross negligence on his part will not, in and of itself, defeat his title. It is, however, proper evidence against him to prove bad faith on his part; that a person receiving stolen money, who gives a valuable consideration therefor, without notice or knowledge of its tainted character, has a good title thereto as against the true owner; and that the title of a third person to stolen money is good as against the true owner, where he receives it innocently, without knowledge of its tainted character."

In *State Bank v. The United States*, 114 U.S. 401 (1885) the United States Supreme Court held that funds coming into the possession of the United States were not subject to reclaim by the bank because agents of the United States had discovered that certain funds had been fraudulently obtained by a third person from the United States and made sufficient coercive inquiry of that person for the return of the funds that the individual committed fraud in obtaining the monies which were later given over to the same agents of the United States. This is so even though it was clear that the amount of money involved, thousands of dollars, would tend to cast doubt on the ability of the person to obtain the money to repay the United States except were he to obtain it through illegal means. The court stated:

"Carter knew that that promise could not be kept, without subjecting both himself and Hartwell to criminal prosecution, and it was no violation of his

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