1968

Valley Shopping Center No. 3, a Corporation,  
American Home Assurance Company, a  
Corporation and Safeco Insurance Company, a  
Corporation v. Sumner J. Hatch and Robert M.  
Mcrae : Brief of Respondents

Utah Supreme Court

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

## ARGUMENT

### POINT I

#### THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN INSTRUCTING THE JURY ON THE APPLICABLE STANDARD OF LAW

The court instructed that the defendants had "no obligation to make an independent inquiry as to the ownership of the funds they may receive from their clients, unless they had sufficient notice prior to the receipt of same, to put a reasonable and prudent man on inquiry to avoid taking funds belonging to someone else. Information that would put a reasonable, prudent man on such an inquiry as to the ownership of the funds would constitute the notice referred to in proposition No. 2 of the verdict (R. 65, Instr. 9B).

The jury found that the defendants received the money with "notice or knowledge that it had been stolen" (R. 55, Prop. No. 2).

Defendants' own requested instruction No. 4 (R. 60), (essentially adopted by the court in its instructions Nos. 9A, B, and C) provided that the defendants had no obligation to make an independent inquiry as to the source of the funds "if they had no clear or convincing evidence to the contrary."

36 *Am. Jur.*, Money §6, cited by defendants, describes good faith as "without *notice* or knowledge of its tainted character" and goes on to say:

"The authorities are agreed that it is not sufficient that the receiver of stolen money act in good faith and without notice of its tainted character; he must also have parted with a valuable consideration therefor; and hence, if he is a mere depository for the thief, the money may be recovered from him; or if he parts with it after notice that it was stolen money, he will be liable to the true owner therefor . . .

"It is said that at the present time there is substantially no difference in the rule applicable to the rights of a person receiving stolen money and receiving stolen negotiable instruments *which are complete on their face* . . ."

Although there is some confusion even under negotiable instruments law, it is submitted that the following authorities are in accord with the instructions of the court in the instant case:

"If circumstances exist as to the purchase of stolen paper which are calculated to raise suspicion in the mind of *an ordinary man of prudence* and discretion, such a purchaser will be prevented from acquiring

title better than that of his vendor." 8 *Am. Jur.*, Bills and Notes, §619, pp. 332-333

In 11 *Am. Jur. 2d*, Bills and Notes §§425 et seq., even the discussion of the subjective test ultimately falls back on a discussion of objective standards: "Knowledge of facts which render the taking dishonest" or "facts known to the taker . . . such as to *reasonably* form the basis for an inference that in acquiring the instrument with knowledge of such facts, he acted in dishonest regard of the rights of (others)."

In 10 *C.J.S.*, Bills and Notes §323, it states:

"If a party has knowledge of facts or circumstances involved in the negotiation of a note, the legal effect of which would avoid the transfer to him, he cannot claim as a holder in due course, *no matter how honestly he may have believed that the law would sustain the transfer.*"

In *First National Bank v. Trebin*, (Ohio) 52 N.E. 834, we find:

"Good faith is not measured by a man's own standard of right, but by a standard for the observance of all men in their dealings with one another."

In *Ward v. City Trust*, (NY) 84 N.E. 585, it states:

"One who suspects, or ought to suspect, is bound to inquire, and the law presumes that he knows whatever proper inquiry would disclose."

When the defendants had knowledge that the money was impounded as evidence in the robbery case, such is

equivalent to a person taking a negotiable instrument which is altered and irregular on its face. In such a case there is a duty to inquire and discover the facts which a prudent purchaser would discover. See 11 *Am. Jur. 2d* Bills and Notes, §448.

In *Sinclair v. Houston*, (Texas) 268 SW2d 290, cited in defendant's brief, the court reaffirmed that it is against public policy to protect a gambler who has won stolen money. In the instant case it is clearly against the public interest to permit the loot to be used to the advantage of the robbers in their own defense of that very robbery.

Also in *Sinclair v. Houston*, the court apparently approved an objective standard by stating that it is "unnecessary to determine whether the evidence would have supported a finding that the appellee, *in the exercise of reasonable care*, would have concluded from the heavy losses sustained by an assistant treasurer . . . that he was not losing his own money."

At trial the defendants should have had, but did not have, the burden of proving their good faith and lack of notice or knowledge, once it was established that the money belonged to the plaintiffs or had infirmities.

In *Warren v. Smith* 35 Ut. 455, 100 P.1069, the court stated:

"It is also well settled that when the loss by the original owner or the theft from him is proven, the burden of proof shifts, and the holder must show

that he acquired it bona fide for value and before maturity, or from someone who had a perfect title."

See also *Idaho State Bank v. Hooper Sugar*, 74 Ut. 24, 276 P.659; *Lembo v. Federici*, (Wash.) 385 P2d 312; and 12 *Am. Jur. 2d*, Bills and Notes, §1204.

In *National Bank v. Price*, 65 Ut. 57, 234 P. 231, the court quoted at pages 240 and 241:

"It is ordinarily to be expected in these cases that the purchaser will testify to his good faith and want of notice and that defendant is compelled to rely upon circumstantial evidence to rebut such showing. Whether plaintiff has sufficiently *sustained the burden* resting upon him and made good his claim to be an innocent purchaser is therefore a question for the jury . . . A categorical denial of notice or knowledge is something which in many, if not in most, instances cannot be opposed by direct proof; and the credibility of the witnesses, their interest in the case, the reasonableness or unreasonableness of their statements, the time, place and manner of the transaction, its conformity to or departure from the ordinary methods of business, and all other facts and circumstances which, though of slight moment in themselves, yet when taken together give character and color to the purchase under inquiry, . . . (O)bserving this principle, it has frequently been held that a denial of notice by the purchaser, though he be uncontradicted by any other witness, is not sufficient to justify a directed verdict in his favor."

In *USF&G v. Eades*, (W.Va.) 144 S.E.2d, p. 709, the court stated:

"A purchaser (of negotiable instrument) takes with notice only where he has actual knowledge or



knowledge of facts which make it bad faith on his part not to inquire or discover evidence of inequities, and certain facts or circumstances may or may not constitute notice, actual or *imputed* because of the failure to inquire."

In any event, whether the duty to inquire be discussed in terms of subjectivity or objectivity, the evidence is without dispute in this case that the defendants, in spite of any real inquiry, did, in fact have notice and knowledge that the money was loot. The defendants did not, and could never, under the circumstances, meet the burden of showing their innocence and good faith.

Even the *Kelly Kar* case, cited by plaintiff in his brief, (298 P2d 590,) states:

"So long as he buys in good faith and exercises all the *precautions* as to title that *the reasonable man* would exercise, and so long as he is not put on notice . . . the transaction was valid. . . . (I)f he was put on *such notice as a reasonably prudent man would have interpreted to be* tantamount to a declaration by the thief that the chattel had been purchased with stolen money, he cannot retain the movable against the innocent victim of the robbery."

10 *C.J.S.*, Bills and Notes, §324, pp. 820 and 821, states:

"It would seem that what might be bad faith on the part of one person engaged in one occupation because of his failure to make inquiry, might not be bad faith on the part of a person engaged in another occupation."

Attorneys are required to act as reasonable, prudent men, particularly where their own interests are competing



with their client's interests and the interests of third parties, such as the victims of a robbery, law enforcement agencies and the public.

## POINT II

THE EVIDENCE WAS SUFFICIENT TO SUSTAIN JUDGMENT AGAINST THE DEFENDANTS AS A MATTER OF LAW AND AS A MATTER OF FACT

In a nearly identical case of *McKinley v. Smith*, (Calif.) 17 P2d 1032, involving an attorney plaintiff, the court said:

“The record further shows that at the time that the plaintiff presented his assignment signed by Russell Hill, purporting to transfer the ownership of the money in question from Russell Hill to the plaintiff, the plaintiff specifically excepted in his demand upon the chief of police the turning over and delivery to him of the \$10 bill of which bank had the serial number, and taken from the possession of Russell Hill. Why the plaintiff did not want all of the money is sufficiently apparent from what we have said, and needs no further comment.

“The record further shows that at the time of the assignment upon which the plaintiff bases his right of action, and prior thereto, he knew that Russell Hill was confined in the county jail of the county of Stanislaus, in the city of Modesto, charged with robbing the Modesto Branch of the American Trust Company. *This fixes the fact that the plaintiff is not in the position of an innocent holder*, and took no better title than that possessed by Russell Hill, the man identified, beyond any reasonably controversy, as the one who held up the bank.

"In addition to what we have said, the record shows that Russell Hill was arrested in St. Joseph, Mo., about two weeks after the robbery of the bank in Modesto. The marked \$10 bill had not been paid out to any other person, and it could not have come into the possession of Russell Hill unless he were the one who had robbed the bank, or had obtained the bill from someone who had robbed the bank. The record being practically incontrovertible that Russell Hill was the one who robbed the bank, the jury could not reasonably have come to any other conclusion than that Russell Hill was the person who robbed the bank, obtained possession of the marked bill, and took it with him with the other moneys found in his possession, to St. Joseph, Mo. Under these circumstances *no jury could reasonably come to any other conclusion* than that Russell Hill was the one who robbed the bank of the bank of the \$1548, and still had in his possession, as a part thereof, the currency which was found upon him at the time of his arrest.

"(T)he jury had a right to take into consideration as to where Russell Hill had obtained the money when he was asked by the chief of police if he had anything to say, and he replied, 'I ain't saying anything.' No one who had obtained the money honestly would have made such an answer. After the bank had been robbed the insurance carrier of the bank, took an assignment of the bank's claim, was allowed to intervene herein, and was found by the jury to be the owner of the money involved in this action.

"In view of the foregoing, we do not deem it necessary to enter into any technical discussion of the instruction given by the trial court to the jury, nor of the requested instructions that were refused, further than to say that a reading of the instructions shows that the jury was fairly and fully instructed,

and that no error is disclosed sufficient to warrant any reversal, if error there be.

“We do not deem it necessary to cite any authorities in this case, as what we have said, as disclosed by the record, is sufficient to satisfy *any reasonable man* that the money involved herein was a part of the currency stolen by Russell Hill, from the bank in Modesto, and that anyone taking an assignment from him, with knowledge, would acquire no title.”

*Stiller v. Rogers*, (Calif.) 159 P.456, is in the same context. There a woman stole \$900. At the time of her arrest the police found \$501 on her person which was deposited with the sheriff. Most of the money was in \$50 bills. Thereafter, her attorney received a written order upon the sheriff to pay \$200 of the deposited moneys as attorneys' fees. After some resistance by the sheriff, the money was turned over to the attorney. In affirming the trial court, the appellate court found that the defendant either “*knew or should have known* that at least part of the money so received by him were stolen funds. . . .” and stated:

“In accepting employment . . . he must have known that she was charged with the theft . . . from the plaintiff. . . . (H)e knew from both her and the sheriff that a considerable sum had been found on her person at her arrest and had been impounded. . .

“Such facts would seem to deprive the defendant of the benefit of receiving the assignment of the currency . . . as being one who paid value therefor in good faith, without notice of the theft of such money.”

“A purchaser . . . cannot shut his eyes to the surrounding circumstances, and where the circumstances are so cogent and obvious that to remain

passive would constitute bad faith or as such is to justify the conclusion that failure to make such inquiry arose from a suspicion that inquiry would disclose a vice or defect in the instrument of transaction, such purchaser is charged with knowledge. Intentional ignorance, such as a wilful evasion of knowledge of the facts, constitutes bad faith disqualifying the purchaser from becoming a holder in due course. *Where circumstances which put him on inquiry are within his knowledge, he is chargeable with knowledge of all facts which an inquiry would have revealed."*

In *Hindmarch v. Hoffman*, (Pa.) 18 A. 14, the thief gave \$1400 loot to the defendant to hold, the defendant not then being aware that it was loot. Later, the defendant was advised by plaintiff's attorney that the plaintiff claimed the money. Thereafter, the defendant paid the money on order of the thief to a third party. The court held as a matter of law that "under these circumstances, it was clearly his duty to hold it for plaintiff. . . . Justice demands that he should now be compelled to pay the amount to the rightful owner."

In *Bergheim v. McRae*, (Minn.) 252 NW 833, plaintiff, as the owner of a note, assigned the note to the bank cashier personally. The cashier (McRae) embezzled the money from the bank and then endorsed the note to the defendant Simon. Affirming the judgment for the plaintiff, the court stated:

"The trial court found that Simon acquired the note. . . . with knowledge of such circumstances that he acted in bad faith . . . It found that Simon knew that McRae was in financial difficulties and that he had embezzled money from the bank and was endeavoring to borrow to make up the shortage. He

knew that McRae was menaced with criminal prosecutions and . . . with all other. . . circumstances. . . were sufficient to constitute red lights ahead and to cast upon . . . defendant. . . Simon the duty to make inquiries. . . The neglect to make inquiry. . . was more than mere negligence. It was lack of commercial faith. The inquiry most naturally should have been directed to the mortgagee (plaintiff). It is contended that inasmuch as the appellant discussed the matter with McRae, his banker and with the attorney for the bank, he did everything that an honest man should. The record is necessarily silent as to what was submitted to the lawyer, and McRae was the very man whose title should have been scrutinized. . . Men of business experience know that hard-pressed debtors turn sharp corners and are not scrupulous to distinguish between their own and the property of others. . . Knowledge, not surmise suspicion or fear is necessary. Not knowledge of the exact truth, but knowledge of some truth that would prevent action by those commercially honest men for whom law is made."

In *Lytle v. Lansing*, 147 U.S. 59, the court commented:

"It is incredible that a man should purchase this large amount of bonds (\$50,000) for half their base value without looking at them or even noticing whether they were signed or sealed, without making any inquiries with regard to the responsibility of the town, or the circumstances under which the bonds were issued, the non-payment of the overdue coupons, or the title of the person (to him an entire stranger) through whom he purchased them. . . (T)he very fact that bonds were offered for sale at this large discount, at a place 2,000 miles from where they were issued, was of itself a circumstance calculated to arouse suspicion of their validity in the mind of *any person of ordinary intelligence*."

"It is singular as a matter of fact and fatal to a recovery as *a matter of law* that the plaintiff did not

act upon the information thus received and at once repudiate the transaction and refuse to consummate the sale by a deed.

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